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RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION
INTRODUCTION
In this appeal, the Petitioner Patriots Environmental Corp., an asbestos and hazardous material removal contractor, challenges a $54,714.00 Penalty Assessment Notice (“PAN” or “Civil Administrative Penalty”) that the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection (“MassDEP” or “the Department”) issued to the Petitioner on April 29, 2011 for purported asbestos and hazardous waste violations at four locales in the Commonwealth.  See PAN, at pp. 1-16.  Specifically, the Department assessed the following penalties against the Petitioner:

(1)
$4,000.00 for asbestos violations and $3,580.00 for hazardous waste

violations at 26 Southbridge Street in Auburn (“the Auburn Site”), Id., at pp. 2-3, 8-9; 
(2)
$25,084.00 for hazardous waste violations at 219 Ludlow Street in
Worcester (“the Worcester Site”), Id., at pp.  3-5, 9-11; 
(3)
$3,000.00 for asbestos violations at 55 Lowell Street in Lawrence (“the
Lawrence Site”), Id., at pp. 6, 11; and 
(4)
$19,050.00 for asbestos violations at 95 Fisk Avenue in Springfield (“the
Springfield Site”).  Id., at pp. 6-7, 12.
The Petitioner denies having committed any violations and contends that the $54,714.00 penalty that the Department has imposed for the violations is improper because the Department purportedly failed to comply with the requirements of the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, § 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.00 in assessing the penalty.  See [Petitioner’s] Request for An Adjudicatory Hearing (May 18, 2011).  The Petitioner also contends that the penalty is excessive.  Id.  
The issues for resolution in this appeal are: (1) whether the Petitioner committed the asbestos and hazardous waste violations as alleged by the Department in the PAN; (2) if so, whether the Department properly considered all 12 factors required for penalty assessments under G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25 in assessing the penalties for each of the asbestos and hazardous waste violations; and (3) if so, whether any of the penalty assessments are excessive based on the facts of the case? 
I conducted a one day Adjudicatory Hearing (“Hearing”) to resolve the issues in the appeal.  Prior to the Hearing, the parties filed sworn Pre-filed Direct Testimony (“PFT”) of several witnesses in support of the parties’ respective positions in the case, and those witnesses attended the Hearing and were cross-examined under oath by the parties’ respective legal counsel.  The Department, the party with the burden of proof,
 submitted the PFT of five experienced Department staff members in the asbestos or hazardous waste regulatory and 
investigatory areas:  
(1) 
Donald Heeley (“Mr. Heeley”), who testified about the Petitioner’s
purported asbestos violations at the Auburn Site;
  
(2) 
James Jordan (“Mr. Jordan”), who testified about the Petitioner’s
purported asbestos violations at the Lawrence Site; 

(3) 
Jennifer H. Macionus (“Ms. Macionus”), who testified about the
Petitioner’s purported hazardous waste violations at the Auburn and Worcester Sites; 

(4) 
Robert D. Shultz (“Mr. Shultz”), who testified about the Petitioner’s
purported asbestos violations at the Springfield Site;
 and
 (5) 
Gregory Levins (“Mr. Levins”), who testified about how the Department
assessed all of the penalties in the PAN pursuant to G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.
  
The Petitioner submitted the PFT of five witnesses:

(1) 
Ronald Bussiere, the Petitioner’s principal and 
President (“Mr. R. Bussiere”);

(2) 
Steve Bussiere (“Mr. S. Bussiere”), Mr. R. Bussiere’s son;

(3) 
Amaury Jesus Maracallo, one of the Petitioner’s Asbestos removal
supervisors; 
 
(4) 
George Matsos, one of the Petitioner’s Asbestos removal supervisors;
 
and
(5) 
John Reil, one of the Petitioner’s Project Managers.
  
After considering the PFT and cross-examination testimony of all of the witnesses and the governing statutes and regulations, I conclude that a preponderance of the evidence shows: (1) that the Petitioner committed the asbestos and hazardous waste violations as alleged by the Department in the PAN; (2) that the Department properly assessed the $54,714.00 penalty against the Petitioner in accordance with the requirements of G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25; and (3) the penalty was therefore not excessive.  Accordingly, I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner issue a Final Decision affirming the PAN.

DISCUSSION

I.
THE DEPARTMENT’S AUTHORITY TO ASSESS CIVIL ADMINISTRATIVE
PENALTIES FOR ENVIRONMENTAL VIOLATIONS  

The Department is authorized by the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A,

§ 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.00, to assess civil administrative penalties against parties who have committed environmental violations.  In the Matter of Myrtle 107, LLC, OADR Docket No. 2011-027, Recommended Final Decision (May 25, 2012), 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 10-11, adopted as Final Decision (June 4, 2012), 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 61.  The Civil Administrative Penalties Act and the Administrative Penalty Regulations are designed to “promote protection of public health, safety, and welfare, and the environment, by 
promoting compliance, and deterring and penalizing noncompliance . . . .”  Id.; 310 CMR 5.02(1).  

Generally, the Department “may assess a civil administrative penalty on a person who

fails to comply with any provision of any regulation, . . . or of any law which the department has the authority or responsibility to enforce [if] . . . such noncompliance occurred after the department had given such person written notice of such noncompliance, and after reasonable time, as determined by the department and stated in said notice, had elapsed for coming into compliance.”  G.L. c. 21A, § 16; 310 CMR 5.10 to 310 CMR 5.12; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 11-12.  However, the Department “may assess such penalty without providing such written notice if such failure to comply: . . . was willful and not the result of error.”  G.L. c. 21A, § 16; 310 CMR 5.14; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 12.  The term “willful and not the result of error” has been interpreted in a long line of administrative and judicial decisions as follows. 


First, “willfulness,” as used in G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.14, does not require proof of bad faith, intent to violate the law, or any knowledge of applicable legal requirements by the environmental law violator; “[it] requires only the intent to do an act that violates the law if done, and nothing more.”  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 12-15 (citing cases).    
Second, the phrase “not the result of error” in G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.14 means “that the violations are not accidental, unforeseeable and beyond the control of the regulated entity.”  Id., at 16.  Hence, the issue regarding the “willful and not the result of error” inquiry “is not whether [the actor] intended to cause the harm that occurred but whether taking into account the 
totality of the circumstances the violations were unforeseeable and beyond [the actor’s] control.”  Id.  

As for the proper amount of a penalty for environmental law violations, the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, § 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.25 require the Department to consider 12 factors when calculating the penalty.  Id.,   at 16-17, 27-32.  These 12 factors are discussed below, at pp. 15-18, in connection with the resolution of the issue of whether the Department properly assessed penalties against the Petitioner for its asbestos and hazardous waste violations. 
II.
THE DEPARTMENT HAS ESTABLISHED THAT THE PETITIONER

COMMITTED THE ASBESTOS VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE PAN
AND THAT THE PENALTIES THAT IT HAS ASSESSED AGAINST THE PETITIONER FOR THOSE VIOLATIONS ARE PROPER.

A.
The Department’s Authority to Regulate the Removal of

Asbestos Containing Materials 

The Department is responsible for enforcement of various environmental protection statutes and regulations designed to combat air pollution, including the Air Pollution Control Regulations at 310 CMR 7.00, et seq.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 5.  These regulations govern the emission (discharge or release) of air contaminants to the ambient air space, including emissions from friable asbestos-containing material resulting from demolition/renovation projects.  See 310 CMR 7.00 (Definitions); 310 CMR 7.15; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 5.  

The regulations define “friable asbestos-containing material” as “any dry material containing 1% or more asbestos by area, as determined by a laboratory using USEPA approved methods, that hand pressure can crumble, pulverize, or reduce to powder.”  See 310 CMR 7.00 (Definitions); Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 5-6.  These materials include “sprayed-on and troweled-on materials applied to ceilings, walls, and other surfaces, insulation on pipes, boilers, tanks, ducts, and other equipment, structural and non-structural members, tiles, shingles or asbestos-containing paper.”  Id. (definition of “asbestos-containing material”); Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 6.  These materials also include:

any friable asbestos-containing material removed during a demolition/renovation project and anything contaminated in the course of a demolition/renovation project including asbestos waste from control devices, bags or containers that previously contained asbestos, contaminated clothing, materials used to enclose 
the work area during the demolition/renovation operation, and demolition/renovation debris.    

Id. (definition of “asbestos containing waste material”); Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 6.

The regulations specific to emissions from friable asbestos-containing material are set forth in the Asbestos Regulations at 310 CMR 7.15 and define a “demolition/renovation” project as:

any operation which involves the wrecking, taking out, removal, stripping, or altering in any way (including repairing, restoring, drilling, cutting, sanding, sawing, scratching, scraping, or digging into) or construction of one or more facility components or facility component insulation. This term includes load and 
nonload supporting structural members of a facility. 
  

310 CMR 7.00 (Definitions); Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 6-7.  The Asbestos 
Regulations prohibit the “owner/operator” of a demolition/renovation project
 from:

caus[ing], suffer[ing], allow[ing], or permit[ting] the demolition/renovation, installation, reinstallation, handling, transporting, storage, or disposal of a facility or facility component that contains asbestos, asbestos-containing material, or 
asbestos-containing waste material in a manner which causes or contributes to a condition of air pollution.

310 CMR 7.15(1)(a); Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 7.  

The Asbestos Regulations also require the owner/operator of a demolition/renovation

operation involving asbestos-containing material to perform certain actions, including the following:

*
notifying the Department of the demolition/renovation project at least ten working days before the operation begins, 310 CMR 7.09(2); 310 CMR 7.15(1)(b);

*
properly “[r]emov[ing] any asbestos-containing material from a facility or facility component prior to demolition/renovation operations if such operations will cause asbestos emissions, or will render the asbestos-containing material friable, or will prevent access to the asbestos-containing material for subsequent containment and removal,” 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)1;

*
adequately wet asbestos-containing material exposed during the removal operations, 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)2.a. and 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3.a;

*
ensure that asbestos-containing material remains wet “until and after it is sealed into a container for disposal,” 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)2.c.i. and 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)4;

*
properly sealing the work area during removal of asbestos-containing material, 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)2.c.ii. and 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3.d;

*
maintaining proper air filtration in the work area, 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)2.c.ii. and 310 CMR 7.15(1)(d);

*
properly “wet, containerize and seal the asbestos-containing waste material in leak-tight containers” that are clearly labeled and warn individuals of the containers’ contents, 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a; and

*
properly “[d]ispose of asbestos-containing waste material at an approved sanitary landfill special waste site.”  310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)3.

Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 9-10.
B.
The Petitioner Committed Asbestos Violations at the Auburn Site and the $4,000.00 Penalty that the Department Assessed For Those Violations Is  Proper.
1. The Petitioner’s Asbestos Violations at the Auburn Site

Through Mr. Heeley’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the Department demonstrated that the Petitioner committed asbestos violations at the Auburn Site as alleged in ¶¶ 7-8 of the PAN, and that these violations were willful and not the result of error.
  As discussed below, the evidence demonstrates that the Petitioner’s removal of metal roof  panels at the Auburn Site containing asbestos caused the violations, and, as a result, the violations were not accidental, but rather, were foreseeable and within the Petitioner’s control.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 16.  Specifically, the Department, through Mr. Heeley’s PFT, demonstrated the following:

During the week of September 29, 2008, Mr. Heeley reviewed the Department’s asbestos database for active asbestos abatement projects occurring in the Central Massachusetts Region.  Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT, ¶ 13.  In reviewing the database, Mr. Heeley learned that the Petitioner had filed a notification with the Department that it would be performing an asbestos abatement project at the Auburn Site.  Id., ¶ 14.  The Petitioner’s asbestos notification noted that the Petitioner would be removing approximately 6,500  linear feet of thermal pipe insulation, 8,000 square feet of asbestos transite wallboard, and 10,000 square feet of asbestos roofing materials from the Auburn Site.  Id., ¶ 15.  The project was to begin on August 20, 2008 and conclude on October 3, 2008.  Id., ¶ 16.


On October 2, 2008, Mr. Heeley inspected the Auburn Site.  Id., ¶ 17.  When he arrived at the Auburn Site, he observed two of the Petitioner’s employees cutting bolts from silver painted metal roof panels on the building at the Site.  Id.  After making that observation, he contacted the Petitioner’s president, Mr. R. Bussiere, to discuss the work being performed by the Petitioner’s employees at the Auburn Site.  Id., ¶ 18.  Mr. R. Bussiere told Mr. Heeley that the metal roof panels being removed from the building at the Auburn Site were coated with silver paint containing a type of asbestos known as Galbestos.  Id., ¶¶ 18-19; Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 23.


Mr. R. Bussiere’s nephew, David St. Laurent (“Mr. St. Laurent”), supervised the asbestos removal project at the Auburn Site.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 24; Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT, 
¶¶ 19-25.  Mr. St. Laurent was present during Mr. Heeley’s inspection of the Auburn Site.   Id.  Mr. St. Laurent told Mr. Heeley that the metal roofing panels being removed by the Petitioner’s employees at the Auburn Site contained asbestos.  Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT, ¶ 20.  In response, Mr. Heeley inquired why the employees were not using water to remove the panels and Mr. St. Laurent stated they were only cutting the bolts holding the panels.  Id.

[image: image1.png]



During the course of his inspection, Mr. Heeley went to the north end of the building at the Auburn Site and observed numerous silver painted metal roof panels lying on the ground.  Id., ¶ 21; Exhibit 1 to Mr. Heeley D.PFT.  He also observed small silver paint flecks on the ground around the metal roof panels.  Id.   Mr. St. Laurent confirmed to Mr. Heeley that these 
panels were from the building’s roof.  Id., ¶ 21.


Mr. Heeley asked Mr. St. Laurent why the Petitioner’s employees had not treated these panels as asbestos containing waste material.  Id., ¶ 22.  Mr. St. Laurent did not answer Mr. Heeley’s question.  Id.  Mr. Heeley informed Mr. St. Laurent that the Petitioner’s employees would have to wet the panels and seal them in leak tight containers in accordance with the Asbestos Regulations.  Id.  He also informed Mr. St. Laurent that the Petitioner’s employees would have to decontaminate the whole area where the asbestos waste was lying on the ground.  
Id.  Mr. Laurent told Mr. Heeley that the Petitioner’s employees would perform those actions.  Id.


At the opposite end of the building at the Auburn Site, Mr. Heeley observed a parked 40 foot box trailer.  Id.  He asked Mr. St. Laurent if the trailer contained asbestos waste from the asbestos abatement project being performed at the Auburn Site.  Id.  Mr. St. Laurent confirmed that the trailer contained that material.   Id.  


After Mr. St. Laurent granted him access to the trailer’s interior, Mr. Heeley observed numerous silver painted metal roof panels stacked on top of each other in the trailer.  Id., 

¶ 23; Exhibits 2 and 3 to Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT.  The panels were dry, uncontained and not marked in any way.  Id.  Mr. Heeley took two photographs of those asbestos coated metal roof panels stacked inside the trailer.  Id.  Mr. Heeley asked Mr. St. Laurent if the panels had been removed from the roof of the building at the Auburn Site and if they were the same type of panels that he had observed lying on the ground earlier in his inspection.  Id., ¶ 24.  Mr. St. Laurent confirmed that the panels in the trailer had been removed from the building’s roof and that the panels Mr. Heeley had observed on the ground had also been removed from the roof.  Id.  In response, Mr. Heeley informed Mr. St. Laurent that the Petitioner’s employees had to wet those panels and 
then seal them in a wet condition in leak tight, labeled containers as soon as possible.  Id., ¶ 25.  He also informed Mr. St. Laurent that the Petitioner’s employees had to decontaminate the trailer as well.  Id.  Mr. St. Laurent responded that the trailer would be cleaned and decontaminated.  Id.

 
After concluding his inspection of the Auburn Site, Mr. Heeley contacted Mr. R. Bussiere on October 2, 2008 to discuss the results of his inspection.  Id., ¶ 26.  Mr. Heeley informed Mr. R. Bussiere that he had requested the asbestos containing metal panels lying on the ground at the Auburn Site be wetted and sealed in leak tight, labeled containers for disposal.  Id.  He also informed Mr. R. Bussiere that the area under the panels had to be decontaminated, and that the silver painted metal roof panels in the trailer needed to be wetted and then sealed in leak tight labeled containers for disposal and that the trailer would then have to be decontaminated as well.  Id.  Mr. R. Bussiere replied that the Petitioner would have the interior of the trailer cleaned and decontaminated.  Id.

During the course of his inspection, Mr. Heeley took three samples from the metal roof panels that had been removed from the roof of the building at the Auburn Site and submitted the samples to an independent laboratory to confirm the presence of asbestos in the samples.  Id.,
¶¶ 27-33; Exhibits 4 and 5 to Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT.  The independent laboratory testing confirmed that all three samples contained more than 1.0% of asbestos material.  Id.  Specifically, one sample contained 5% Chrysotile asbestos; one sample contained 3% Chrysotile asbestos; and one sample contained 30% Chrysotile asbestos.  Id.  Chrysotile asbestos is a fibrous silicate mineral known geologically as serpentine.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶ 14.  It has characteristically wavy fibers and is the most common type of asbestos used in building materials in the United States.  Id.


Mr. St. Laurent did not testify at the Hearing.  Mr. R. Bussiere was not present during

Mr. Heeley’s inspection of Auburn Site, and thus he neither observed Mr. St. Laurent’s interactions with Mr. Heeley nor observed Mr. Heeley’s inspection of the property.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s Cross-Examination Testimony at Hearing.  Accordingly, I find Mr. R. Bussiere’s testimony at the Hearing reporting what Mr. St. Laurent purportedly told him about what transpired during Mr. Heeley’s inspection of the Auburn Site to be unreliable, and, as a result, I accord the testimony little weight.
  Mr. Heeley also refuted Mr. R. Bussiere’s testimony with credible and persuasive testimony at the Hearing.  Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT, pp. 1-2.  Mr. Heeley’s  testimony also refuted the testimony of the Petitioner’s employee, Mr. Maracallo,
 who worked on the asbestos removal project at the Auburn Site.  Id.  Specifically, Mr. Heeley refuted the following:

Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo testified that before the metal roof panels at issue were removed from the building at the Auburn Site, Mr. St. Laurent instructed the Petitioner’s work crew to lay out Polyethylene Sheeting (“Poly Sheeting”) to enclose and seal the work area, hook up water hoses, and wet the panels to be removed, and that the crew followed his instructions.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 25-26; Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 3-4.  Mr. Heeley testified that during his inspection of the Auburn Site, he neither observed any water hoses going up to the roof nor observed any of the Petitioner’s employees spraying down the metal roof panels with water.  Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT, at pp. 1.  He also did not observe any water dripping from the roof.  Id.

Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo testified that several of the metal roof panels that were removed from the roof were rusted but did not contain asbestos.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 29; Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, ¶ 7.  This is not the case because one of the photographs that Mr. Heeley took at Auburn Site depicts rusted metal roof panels with Galbestos on them.  Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT, at pp. 1, 2; Exhibit 1 to Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT.

Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo testified that all of the metal roof panels containing asbestos were carefully lowered to the ground, stacked on top of Poly Sheeting that had been placed on the ground around the work site, and were wet during the stacking process.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 30; Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, ¶ 8.  They testified that after the metal roof panels were stacked, they were sprayed with water.  Id.  This is not the case because one of the photographs that Mr. Heeley took during his inspection of the Auburn Site shows the metal roof panels strewn about on the ground adjacent to the building foundation and not on Poly Sheeting.  Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT, at pp. 1, 2; Exhibit 1 to Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT.  The photograph also shows broken flecks of Galbestos coating lying on the ground off of the Poly Sheeting.  Id.

Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo testified that after the Petitioner’s employees stacked the metal roof panels on the Poly Sheeting on the ground, the panels were wrapped in the Sheeting and then stored in the trailer at the Auburn Site.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 31; Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, ¶ 9.  Mr. R. Bussiere also testified that at Mr. Heeley’s request the panels were unwrapped and then re​-wrapped during his inspection of the Auburn Site.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 33.  This is not the case because as Mr. Heeley testified, he did not observe any panels wrapped in Poly Sheeting inside the trailer, and, as a result, he did not request any of the panels to be unwrapped.  Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT, pp. 2, 3; Exhibit 3 to Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT.  Mr. Heeley’s testimony is supported by one of the photographs that he took of the trailer’s interior during his inspection of the Auburn Site.  Id.  The photograph shows Poly Sheeting on the trailer’s floor and attached to the trailer’s inside walls, and unwrapped Galbestos metal roof panels stacked to the trailer’s ceiling on the left side and a second smaller stack of unwrapped Galbestos panels on the right with asbestos waste bags piled on top of them.  Id.  The photograph does not show any peeled back Poly Sheeting wrapping as Mr. R, Bussiere contended in his testimony, and there is no visible evidence of any of the panels wrapped in Poly Sheeting.  Id.  The photograph also reveals that the panels were not wet and Mr. Heeley testified that he did not observe any water on the trailer’s floor.  Id.

Lastly, Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo testified that none of the materials that the Petitioner’s employees removed from the building’s roof were friable, because in their opinion Galbestos is not friable.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 32; Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, ¶ 10.  This is not the case because as Mr. Heeley testified, during his inspection of the metal roof panels he observed Galbestos coating that had become friable.  Mr. Heeley’ Rebuttal PFT, at p. 2, 3.  He observed areas of the panels where the Galbestos had delaminated from the panels and areas both on and off the panels where the Galbestos was in a dry, brittle, friable state and not in a tar-like consistency as both Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Maracallo alleged in their testimony.  Id.  Mr. Heeley’s testimony is supported by a photograph that he took at the Auburn Site during his inspection that shows brittle dry Galbestos paint flaking off the metal roof panels and on the ground.  Id.; Exhibit 4 attached to Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal Testimony.
2.
The Department Properly Assessed Penalties Totaling $4,000.00 Against the Petitioner For Its Asbestos Violations At The Auburn Site.    
The Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, § 16, and the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.25 require the Department to consider 12 factors when assessing a civil administrative penalty.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 27.  The 
12 factors are the following:

(1)
The actual and potential impact on public health, safety and welfare, and the environment, of the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(2) 
The actual and potential damages suffered, and actual or potential costs incurred, by the Commonwealth, or by any other person, as a result of the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(3) 
Whether the person who would be assessed the Penalty took steps to prevent the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(4) 
Whether the person who would be assessed the Penalty took steps to promptly come into compliance after the occurrence of the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(5) 
Whether the Person who would be assessed the Penalty took steps to remedy and mitigate whatever harm might have been done as a result of the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(6) 
Whether the person being assessed the Penalty has previously failed to comply with any regulation, order, license, or approval issued or adopted by the Department, or any law which the Department has the authority or responsibility to enforce;

(7) 
Making compliance less costly than the failure(s) to comply that would be penalized;

(8) 
Deterring future noncompliance by the person who would be assessed the Penalty;

(9) 
Deterring future noncompliance by persons other than the person who would be assessed the Penalty;

(10) 
The financial condition of the person who would be assessed the Penalty;

(11) 
The public interest; and

(12) 
Any other factor(s) that reasonably may be considered in determining the 


amount of a Penalty, provided that said factor(s) shall be set forth in the Penalty Assessment Notice.

In the Matter of William T. Matt, Trustee, East Ashland Realty Trust, OADR Docket No. 97-

011, Final Decision, 1998 MA ENV LEXIS 934, at 34 n.27; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 27-29.    

Although consideration of the 12 factors set forth above is mandatory, neither the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, § 16, nor the Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.25 “defines ‘consider’ or ‘considerations,’ and neither requires any particular quantum or degree of consideration [by the Department]; nor does either the statute or the regulation[s] specify what the Department must review in considering any of the penalty factors.”  Matt, 1998 MA ENV LEXIS 934, at 35; In the Matter of Roofblok Limited, OADR Docket No. 2006-047 & 048, Final Decision, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 185, at 9; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 29.  Hence, “[c]onsiderations,” as the statute uses the term, and “consider,” as 310 CMR 5.25 specifies, “are given, thus, their common and ordinary meanings—what is required is that the penalty factors be thought about and taken into account [by the Department].”  Matt, 1998 MA ENV LEXIS 934, at 35-36; Roofblok, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 185, at 9; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 30.  

“Not thinking about a factor or not taking it into account clearly does not meet this

requirement.  Neither the administrative penalty statute nor the administrative penalty regulations[, however, require the Department to provide], on the other hand, a detailed analysis of the penalty factors; nor do they require that the penalty factors be given any particular weight or that their consideration, whether individually or collectively, result in an adjustment of the penalty amount.  The question relative to penalty factor consideration is, thus, only whether it occurred or not, and not whether consideration of the penalty factors was satisfactory in terms of quality or quantity.”  Matt, 1998 MA ENV LEXIS 934, at 36; Roofblok, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 
185, at 10; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 30-31. 

In sum, “[p]enalty factor consideration prior to assessment, thus, matters in an appeal

such as this one only as a threshold issue--did the Department in fact take each of the penalty 

factors into account before it issued the penalty assessment notice?”  Matt, 1998 MA ENV LEXIS 934, at 36-37; Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 31.  It is well settled that:

the level of proof needed to cross the threshold is not particularly high.  It should be enough to show that the Department gave some thought to the penalty factors in computing the penalty based upon the information that was available to it at the time. The credibility of that information, its completeness, and the weight it should be given have nothing to do with whether the penalty factors were 

considered. Those matters are relevant, instead, to the penalty amount.

Id.  “The penalty . . . amount[, in turn] is not a factual finding but the exercise of a discretionary grant of power” by the Department.”  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 31-32.  “While the Department retains the discretion as to the weight given to the various factors, the penalty amount must [nevertheless] reflect the facts of each case.”  Id. 

Here, the Department assessed a total penalty of $4,000.00 against the Petitioner for
four asbestos violations at the Auburn Site as follows:

(1) 
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3a by failing to adequately
wet asbestos-containing material being removed from the Auburn Site (the silver painted metal roof panels); 

(2) 
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a. by failing to wet asbestos-
containing waste materials (the silver painted metal roof panels) at the Auburn Site;

(3) 
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a by failing to seal the
asbestos-containing waste material (the silver painted metal roof panels) in leak-tight containers at the Site;
 and


(4) 
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a by failing to properly label

the asbestos-containing waste materials.
  


Through Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT, the Department established that it properly assessed each of the penalties set forth above in accordance with G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.  As his PFT demonstrates, Mr. Levins has been employed by the Department since 1982, and has significant training, regulatory, and investigative experience in the asbestos area. Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 1-5.  He was responsible for finalizing the penalty assessments for each asbestos and hazardous waste violation listed in the PAN that was assessed against the Petitioner.  Id., ¶¶ 6-14, 15-365.  Mr. Levins finalized those assessments after consulting with the Department staff who investigated the violations, his superiors in the Department, and the Department's legal counsel.  Id.    

With respect to the Petitioner’s asbestos violations at the Auburn Site, Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT fully confirms that the Department properly considered all 12 factors required by G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25 for each asbestos penalty assessment for those violations.  Id., 15-25, 103-113, 125-135, 147-157.  In response, the Petitioner failed to put forth any probative evidence refuting the evidence in Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT setting forth the Department’s basis for assessing the $4,000.00 penalty for the Petitioner’s asbestos violations at the Auburn Site.  See Mr. R. Bussiere’s PFT.  All the Petitioner did was to suggest that the penalty for the Auburn Site was improper because it was part of a PAN that contained penalties for the Petitioner’s asbestos violations at the Lawrence and Springfield Sites.  Id., ¶ 4.  Specifically, the Petitioner’s President, Mr. R. Bussiere, testified that “[he] was somewhat surprise[ed] that the [Department’s] Central Regio[nal] [Office] was attempting to penalize [the Petitioner] for alleged violations from other regions, and [that] it seemed to [him] that the Department . . . was attempting to make an example out of [the Petitioner] . . . .”  Id.  

Mr. Levins refuted Mr. R. Bussiere’s contention by testifying that prior to the Department’s issuance of the PAN “[he] explained to Mr. [R.] Bussiere at the enforcement conference [that] the Department made the decision to consolidate the three enforcement matters from its different regions to conserve time and resources for both the Department and [Petitioner] and to avoid having three separate enforcement cases proceeding forward simultaneously [against the Petitioner].”  Mr. Levins’ Rebuttal PFT.  He testified that “[t]he Deputy Regional Directors from the [Department’s] Central, Northeast[,] and Western Regio[nal] [Offices] made the decision to consolidate these [enforcement] matters and chose to have the Central Region[al] [Office] take the lead on the enforcement primarily because [the Petitioner] has its office [at the Worcester Site] and [the Central Regional Office] would be the most convenient location for an enforcement conference regarding all of the alleged violations.”  Id.  I accept Mr. Levins’ testimony as credible on this issue.  
C.
The Petitioner Committed Asbestos Violations at the Lawrence Site and the $3,000.00 Penalty that the Department Assessed For Those Violations is  Proper.
1. 
The Petitioner’s Asbestos Violations at the Lawrence Site

Through Mr. Jordan’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the Department demonstrated that the Petitioner committed asbestos violations at the Lawrence Site as alleged in ¶¶ 11, 11A, 11B, 11C, and 12 of the PAN, and that these violations were willful and not the result of error.  As discussed below, the evidence demonstrates that the Petitioner’s removal of asbestos containing tile and linoleum flooring material at the Lawrence Site caused the violations, and, as a result, the violations were not accidental, but rather, were foreseeable and within the Petitioner’s control.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 16.  Specifically, the Department, through Mr. Jordan’s PFT, demonstrated the following:
On August 28, 2008, Mr. Jordan inspected the Lawrence Site after he was informed by Gary Pharris, an inspector for the Massachusetts Department of Occupational Safety that he had inspected the Site and discovered the Petitioner’s employees improperly performing asbestos removal work at the Site.  Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT, p. 4.  At the Lawrence Site, Mr. Jordan walked through the building being renovated at the Site, and observed that the Petitioner’s employees had removed asbestos containing tile and linoleum flooring material.  Id.  As he walked through the work areas, he observed cardboard Gaylord boxes
 that were neither coated nor covered by plastic liners and that could be contaminated with asbestos fibers if located in the asbestos removal work area.  Id.  The Gaylord boxes contained plastic liners filled with pieces of flooring material and other debris.  Id.  Mr. Jordan also observed pieces of flooring material on the wooden pallets that the Gaylord boxes were located on.  Id.  He also observed portable, high efficiency particulate air (“HEPA”) filtered powered exhaust units being used by the Petitioner’s employees during asbestos removal work that were not equipped with an operational alarm system in violation of the Asbestos Regulations.  Id., at pp. 4, 6.  

All of Mr. Jordan’s observations at the Lawrence Site are confirmed by 18 photographs that he took of the Site and that refute the testimony of the Petitioner’e employee, Mr. Matsos,
 contending that the Petitioner’s asbestos removal operations at the Site were properly performed.  Id., at p. 5; Exhibit 3 to Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT.  Three of the photographs depict the open Gaylord containers with the asbestos waste materials; seven of the photographs depict disturbed, loose, uncontained asbestos material; and eight of the photographs depict the HEPA filtered powered exhaust units being used by the Petitioner’s employees during asbestos removal work that were not equipped with an operational alarm system.  Id.       

During his inspection of the Lawrence Site, Mr. Jordan collected four samples of suspect asbestos containing flooring material (“SACM”) from the first floor and four samples of SACM from the second floor of the building where the asbestos removal had occurred.  Id., at p. 5; Exhibit Jordan-1 to Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT.  Mr. Jordan submitted these samples to an independent laboratory to confirm whether they contained asbestos.  Id.  The independent laboratory testing confirmed that seven of the eight flooring samples tested positive for the presence of asbestos.  Id.  Mr. Jordan also requested that the laboratory separately analyze the mastic/glue on the eight flooring samples to determine if that material contained asbestos as well.  Id.  Three of the mastic samples tested positive for asbestos.  Id.  The Petitioner did not refute this evidence.  Id.
2.
The Department Properly Assessed Penalties Totaling $3,000.00 Against the Petitioner For Its Asbestos Violations At The Lawrence Site.    
Mr. Jordan discussed his inspection of the Lawrence Site with Mr. Levins, and as a result of their discussion, Mr. Jordan concluded that the Petitioner had committed the following asbestos violations at the Site:


(1)
The Petitioner violated 310 CMR 7. 15(1)(c)4 by failing to ensure that
asbestos-containing material that had been removed from the Lawrence Site remained wet until after it was sealed in a container for disposal.  Id., at p. 6.  This violation occurred as a result of the Petitioner’s employees’ placement of pieces of dry asbestos containing material (floor tile and linoleum) on the floor and on pallets holding Gaylord disposal containers at the Lawrence Site.  Id.  For this violation, the Department assessed a $1,000.00 penalty against the Petitioner.  PAN, ¶¶ 11A, 15W; Mr. Levins’ D.PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 59-69.



(2)
The Petitioner violated 310 CMR 7.15(1)(d)2 by failing to use portable,
HEPA filtered power exhaust units equipped with an operational alarm system while performing asbestos removal work at the Lawrence Site.  Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT, at p. 6.  For this violation, the Department assessed a $1,000.00 penalty against the Petitioner.  PAN, ¶¶ 11B, 15X; Mr. Levins’ D.PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 70-80.


(3)
The Petitioner violated 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1a by failing to seal asbestos-
containing waste material in leak tight containers.  Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT, at p. 6.  This violation occurred as a result of the Petitioner’s employees allowing pieces of dry asbestos containing material (floor tile and linoleum) on the floor and on pallets holding Gaylord disposal containers at Lawrence Site.  Id.  For this violation, the Department assessed a $1,000.00 penalty against the Petitioner.  PAN, ¶¶ 11C, 15Y; Mr. Levins’ D.PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 136-46.
Through Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT, the Department established that it properly assessed each of the penalties set forth above in accordance with G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.  Mr. Levins’ D.PFT, ¶¶ 1-5, 6-14, 59-80, 136-146.  The Petitioner offered no probative evidence in response to Mr. Levins’ testimony.  
D.
The Petitioner Committed Asbestos Violations at the Springfield Site and the $19,050.00 Penalty that the Department Assessed For Those Violations is  Proper.
1. 
The Petitioner’s Asbestos Violations at the Springfield Site

Through Mr. Shultz’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the Department demonstrated that the Petitioner committed asbestos violations at the Springfield Site as alleged in ¶¶ 13, and 13A-13G of the PAN, and that these violations were willful and not the result of error.  As discussed below, the evidence demonstrates that the Petitioner’s removal of asbestos containing siding from a building at the Springfield Site caused the violations, and, as a result, the violations were not accidental, but rather, were foreseeable and within the Petitioner’s control.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 16.  Specifically, the 
Department, through Mr. Shultz, demonstrated the following:
On October 14, 2008, Mr. Shultz inspected the Springfield Site after he received a telephone complaint alleging improper removal of asbestos transite (“asbestos cement”) siding material from a commercial building located on the Site.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 5-7.  When he arrived at the Springfield Site, Mr. Shultz observed one of the Petitioner’s employees working from a ladder on the side of the building eight to ten feet from the ground using a pry bar to remove transite siding material and allowing it to fall onto the ground below.  Id., ¶ 7.  He observed that siding had already been removed from that side of the building up to a height of approximately 20 feet above the ground and that none of that material had been wetted during the removal operation.  Id., ¶¶ 7, 10.   
 Mr. Shultz made a brief video recording (video clip) of the worker removing the transite
siding, and after doing so, he instructed the worker to stop all work and bring his supervisor to that work area.  Shortly thereafter, Mr. Reil, the Petitioner’s Project Manager, arrived at the Springfield Site.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶ 8.    
Mr. Shultz pointed out to Mr. Reil all of the problems that Mr. Shultz had observed with the worker’s asbestos removal activities.  Id.  Mr. Shultz observed that the majority of the transite siding along the side of the building, estimated to be over 100 feet long, had already been removed by the Petitioner’s employees.  Id.  He also observed that the nails used to affix the siding to the building’s wall were still protruding from the underlying wall.  Id., Exhibit 2 to Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT (Photographs 8 and 9).  This indicated to Mr. Shultz that all of the transite siding had been broken by the Petitioner’s employees during the asbestos removal process.  Id.  Mr. Shultz testified that because transite siding is brittle, it is not possible to remove transite siding in an intact manner without first cutting the nail heads off or pulling the nails out.  Id.  He also testified that breaking transite siding material requires that the removal operation be conducted in a sealed work area with air cleaning in accordance with 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3.d.  Id.  

Mr. Shultz and Mr. Reil inspected the area where Mr. Shultz had filmed the Petitioner’s

employee removing and dropping the transite siding on to the ground.  Id., ¶ 9.  The ground at the base of the building at this location was covered with a drop cloth which consisted of single sheet of six-mil (0.006 inch thick) Poly Sheeting.  Id.  The Poly Sheeting was torn in several areas from the sharp edges of the transite siding that had been removed from the building.  Id.  Although he observed a water hose on the ground against the building foundation and that the Poly Sheeting on the ground was wet, Mr. Shultz did not observe the Petitioner’s employee use the hose during the removal operation which Mr. Shultz had filmed.  Id.  Mr. Shultz also observed several empty nylon grain sacks on the Poly Sheeting at the base of the ladder that the Petitioner’s employee had been using during the removal operations.  Id.  Pieces of the broken siding material had accumulated on top of these empty grain sacks contaminating the exterior of the building.  Id., Exhibit 2 to Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT (Photographs 1 and 2).
Mr. Shultz also observed at least four woven nylon grain sacks piled on the ground at the edge of the work area that were filled with pieces of dry, broken transite siding.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 7, 10; Exhibit 2 to Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT (Photographs 3 through 7).  Because the grain sacks were made of woven nylon material, they were not leak tight.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶ 10.  None of the grain sacks were sealed or properly labeled as required for asbestos waste containers.  Id.  

During his inspection of the Springfield Site with Mr. Reil, Mr. Shultz found dry chips of the transite siding in the street.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶ 11.  Mr. Shultz instructed Mr. Reil to have one of the Petitioner’s employees at the Springfield Site pick up all pieces of the asbestos siding material that was in the street along the entire length of the building and place the material in properly labeled leak tight containers for disposal.  Id.; Exhibit 2 to Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT (Photographs 10 and 11).
Following his inspection of the Springfield Site, Mr. Shultz interviewed Mr. Reil.  Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT, ¶ 12.  During the interview, Mr. Reil admitted that he was not certified as an asbestos site supervisor.  Id.   Mr. Reil also admitted that the Petitioner’s asbestos site supervisor was not present at the Springfield Site.  Id.  Mr. Shultz directed Mr. Reil to instruct the Petitioner’s employees to cease all asbestos removal activity at the Springfield Site, containerize all asbestos waste in leak tight and properly labeled containers, and properly remove that material from the Site.  Id.

As a result of his inspection of the Springfield Site, Mr. Shultz issued a Field Notice of
Noncompliance (“FNON”) to the Petitioner.  Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 9; Exhibit R2 to Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT.  The FNON required the Petitioner to cease its asbestos removal work at the Springfield Site and retain a licensed Asbestos Project Designer to develop an abatement and clean-up plan (“Plan”) for the Site.  Id.  The Petitioner complied with those directives.  Id.; Exhibit R3 to Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT.  

During the course of his inspection of the Springfield Site, Mr. Shultz took three samples from the transite siding that had been removed from the building at the Site and submitted the samples to an independent laboratory to confirm the presence of asbestos in the samples.  Id., 
¶ 14; Exhibit 3 to Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT.  The independent laboratory testing confirmed that all three samples contained more than 1.0% of asbestos material.  Id.  The laboratory report indicated that all three samples contained 20% Chrysotile asbestos.  Id.

At the Hearing, Mr. R. Bussiere and Mr. Reil denied that the Petitioner had committed 
asbestos violations at the Springfield Site.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 6-14; Mr. Reil’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 1 (2nd)-15.  They testified that prior to the Petitioner’s commencement of the asbestos removal project at the Springfield Site, the Petitioner was aware that at one time, vinyl siding had been nailed on top of the transite siding on the building and cracked some of that siding.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 7; Mr. Reil’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 3-5.  They contended that since the transite siding had been covered by vinyl siding, the transite siding had not deteriorated because it had not been exposed to the elements (different weather conditions).  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 8; Mr. Reil’s D.PFT, ¶ 5.  I reject their testimony that the transite siding was in good condition for the following reasons.  
First, Mr. R. Bussiere conceded at the Hearing that “when . . . vinyl siding is [nailed on top of transite siding], it usually cracks the transite because . . . the nails pierce the transite[,] [and] [w]hen the vinyl siding is removed, . . . pieces of the cracked transite will fall off the wall” on to the ground.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 8.  Mr. Reil also said the same thing.  Mr. Reil’s D.PFT, ¶ 4.  Mr. Reil also said that “the transite shingles [at the Springfield Site] were cracked, and damaged due to the installation of the vinyl siding,” and that when he inspected the Springfield Site with Mr. Shultz, “[he] noticed that pieces of transite were all over the ground and in the gutter of the street.”  Id., ¶¶ 5, 6.   

In addition, I give little weight to Mr. R. Bussiere’s and Mr. Reil’s testimony because Mr. Shultz refuted their testimony with credible and persuasive testimony at the Hearing.  Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶¶ 1-15.  
Mr. Shultz testified that as a general matter, transite shingles are considered non-friable only if they are maintained in good condition and handled properly when removed.  Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 1.  He supported his position by relying on a Department guidance document entitled “Asbestos Cement Shingles Guidance Document” that assists contractors and homeowners in ensuring proper removal, handling, and disposal of transite shingles.  Id.; Exhibit R1 to Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT.   This guidance document, which is available on the Department’s internet website,
 states that “MassDEP regulates non-friable materials [asbestos-containing material (“ACM”)] because if these materials have deteriorated, are significantly damaged, and/or are mishandled, asbestos fibers may be released to the ambient air.”  Id.  The guidance document also states that “[i]f [a party] plan[s] to remove asbestos cement shingles that are in good condition [the party] [does] not need to construct a sealed work area and use air cleaning,” but that the shingles should not be broken at any time during the removal process and must be carefully lowered to the ground.  Id.

Based on Mr. Shultz’s observations at the Springfield Site as discussed above, and

contrary to Mr. R. Bussiere’s and Mr. Reil’s assertions, the transite shingles at the Site were not in good condition.  Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 2.  He testified that based upon his training, expertise, and experience in all phases of asbestos removal as an asbestos contractor and in asbestos consulting, as well as nearly 19 years working as an asbestos inspector for the Department, he does not consider transite shingles that have had nails driven through them and which are broken, cracked, falling to the ground, and all over the ground and in the street to be in good condition.  Id., ¶ 5.  Rather, he considers such shingles to be in a deteriorated and friable condition.  Id.  He supported his testimony with the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency’s definition of “[i]n poor condition” found at 40 CFR 61.141 governing asbestos-containing material.  The regulation states that “[i]n poor condition” means that “the binding of the material 
is losing its integrity as indicated by peeling, cracking, or crumbling of the material.”

In sum, as Mr. Shultz testified, the transite shingles at the Springfield Site were very capable of releasing asbestos fibers to the ambient air.  Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 7.  The transite shingles were broken and cracked when the vinyl siding had been installed over them, and they were broken again during the removal operation, and then broken yet again when dropped to the ground from heights of over 10 feet.  Id.  The breaking of transite into numerous pieces exposes friable asbestos along the broken edges.  Id.  The more the shingles are broken the more raw edge is created, and the broken edges expose more friable asbestos to the ambient air because the asbestos is no longer enclosed in the cement matrix of the shingle.  Id.  This is the reason why transite shingles must be wetted before and during the removal operation, and must remain wet until they are sealed into leak tight containers for disposal.  Id.  The Petitioner failed to perform these required procedures here.

2. The Department Properly Assessed Penalties Totaling $19,050.00 Against the Petitioner For Its Asbestos Violations At The Springfield Site.    
The Department assessed a total penalty of $19,050.00 against the Petitioner for
seven asbestos violations at the Springfield Site as follows:


(1)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3a by failing to adequately
wet asbestos-containing material (transite siding) that was being removed from the Springfield Site ; 

(2)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3c by failing to carefully
lower asbestos-containing material (transite siding) to the ground at the
Springfield Site in order to prevent emissions of asbestos;
 
(3)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(c)3d by failing to utilize
methods (air cleaning) at the Springfield Site to capture and contain fugitive dust from asbestos-containing materials (transite siding); 
  

(4)
$13,050.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1 by failing to prevent the
discharge of particulate emissions from asbestos-containing material (transite siding) to the ambient air during the collection, processing, packaging, transporting, transferring, or disposing of the asbestos-containing material from the Springfield Site;

(5)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a. by failing to wet asbestos-
containing waste materials (transite siding) at the Springfield Site;

(6)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a by failing to seal
asbestos-containing waste material (transite siding) in leak-tight containers at the Springfield Site;
 and


(7) 
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 7.15(1)(e)1.a by failing to properly label
asbestos-containing waste materials (transite siding) at the Springfield Site.
  


Through Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT, the Department established that it properly assessed each of the penalties set forth above in accordance with G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.  Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 26-58, 81-102, 114-124.  In response, the Petitioner did nothing except to minimize the scope of its serious asbestos violations at the Springfield Site.  See Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 14.  As evidenced by Mr. Shultz’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the violations were not only serious, but also willful within the meaning 
of G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.14 as discussed above.

 III.
THE DEPARTMENT HAS ESTABLISHED THAT THE PETITIONER

COMMITTED THE HAZARDOUS WASTE VIOLATIONS ALLEGED IN THE PAN AND THAT THE PENALTIES THAT IT ASSESSED AGAINST THE PETITIONER FOR THOSE VIOLATIONS ARE PROPER.

A.
THE DEPARTMENT’S AUTHORITY TO REGULATE 
HAZARDOUS WASTE

The Massachusetts Hazardous Waste Management Act, G.L. c. 21C (“HWMA”), governs the storage and disposal of hazardous waste in the Commonwealth.  In the Matter of Harold B. Wassenar, OADR Docket No. 2007-162, Recommended Final Decision (February 24, 2010), 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 214, at 6-9, adopted as Final Decision (March 18, 2010), 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 144; modified in part, Final Decision on Reconsideration (December 22, 2010); In the Matter of ECC Corporation, OADR Docket Nos. 2008-148 & 149, Recommended Final Decision (April 26, 2011), 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 3-4, adopted as Final Decision (May 9, 2011), 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 59.  The statute defines “hazardous waste” as:

waste, or combination of wastes, which because of its quantity, concentration, or

physical, chemical or infectious characteristics may cause, or significantly contribute to an increase in mortality or an increase in serious irreversible, or incapacitating reversible illness or pose a substantial present or potential hazard to human health, safety or welfare or to the environment when improperly treated, stored, transported, used or disposed of, or otherwise managed . . . .

G.L. c. 21C, § 2; Wassenar, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 214, at 6-7; ECC Corporation, 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 4.
  The statute provides that “[n]o person shall collect, transport, store, treat, use or dispose of hazardous waste unless that person is in possession of a valid license issued [by the Department] pursuant to [the statute].”  G.L. c. 21C, § 5; Wassenar, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 
214, at 7; ECC Corporation, 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 4.  


The HWMA authorizes “[t]he department [to] issue a license subject to such

 terms, restrictions, conditions and requirements as it determines to be necessary to comply with the provisions of [the statute].”  G.L. c. 21C, § 7; Wassenar, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 214, at 8; ECC Corporation, 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 5.  The statute also provides that:

[w]henever it appears that there is a violation of any provision of [the statute] or any license, order, approval or regulation issued or adopted thereunder, the department may issue to a person causing or contributing, or likely to cause or contribute, to such violation or potential violation an order requiring the production or analysis of samples and the production of records, or imposing such 
restraints on or requiring such action by said persons, as it deems necessary to 
abate or prevent such hazard or violation. . . .

G.L. c. 21C, § 9; Wassenar, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 214, at 8; ECC Corporation, 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 5.

The HWMA also authorizes the Department to “adopt rules, regulations, procedures and
standards as may be necessary” to enforce the statute.  G.L. c. 21C, § 4; Wassenar, 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 214, at 8-9; ECC Corporation, 2011 MA ENV LEXIS 58, at 5-6.  In accordance with its statutory authority, the Department has promulgated the HWMA Regulations at 310 CMR 30.000, et seq. (“HWMA Regulations”).  Id.  The HWMA Regulations, among other things, prohibit generators of hazardous wastes from storing incompatible hazardous wastes adjacent to one another, and require generators of hazardous wastes to train their employees regarding proper handling of hazardous wastes, including closing waste accumulation containers and proper characterization of wastes.  310 CMR 30.351(8)(b)(4); 310 CMR 30.351(9)(g); 310 CMR 30.253(7); 310 CMR 30.685(1); 310 CMR 30.302.  A generator of hazardous wastes is “any person, by site, whose act or process produces hazardous wastes identified or listed in 310 CMR 30.100, or whose act first causes a hazardous waste to become subject to regulation.”  310 CMR 30.100 (definitions).  

Waste oil and used fuel oil are considered hazardous wastes under the HWMA Regulations.  The HWMA Regulations require the generators of waste oil or used fuel oil to register their activities with the Department; properly mark and label containers or tanks which contain that material; delineate waste oil/used fuel oil accumulation areas from areas where that material is generated; post signs with the words “Waste Oil” in accumulation areas; keep all containers with that material closed; provide an outdoor containment system for that material; provide an imperious surface underneath accumulation containers; maintain sufficient aisle space between containers to permit inspection; maintain and post an up-to-date written list of emergency contact information near a telephone; use hazardous waste manifests for waste oil transported of the site of generation; keep copies of such manifests for three years from the date the waste was accepted by the transporter; and transfer waste oil only to facilities authorized to accept or use it.  310 CMR 30.253(10)(a); 310 CMR 30.061(1);  310 CMR 30.341(2); 310 CMR 30.685(1); 310 CMR 30.342(1)(e)2; 310 CMR 30.342(1)(e)1; 310 CMR 30.685(4); 310 CMR 30.341(5); 310 CMR 30.253(6)(a); 310 CMR 30.351(9)(c)6; 310 CMR 30.253(9); 310 CMR 30.311(1); 310 CMR 30.253(10)(b); 310 CMR 30.254(4); 310 CMR 30.331(1); and 310 CMR 30.253(1)(e).

As discussed below, at pp. 34-46, the Petitioner violated a number of HWMA 
Regulations discussed above in connection with its activities at the Auburn and Worcester Sites.
B.
The Petitioner Committed Hazardous Waste Violations at the Auburn Site and the $3,580.00 Penalty that the Department Assessed For Those Violations is  Proper.


1.
The Petitioner’s Hazardous Waste Violations at the Auburn Site
Through Ms. Macionus’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the Department demonstrated that the Petitioner committed hazardous waste violations at the Auburn Site as alleged in ¶¶ 5, 5A-5D, 15, 15A-15D of the PAN, and that these violations were willful and not the result of error.  As discussed below, the evidence demonstrates that the Petitioner’s improper handling of hazardous wastes at the Auburn Site caused the violations, and, as a result, the violations were not accidental, but rather, were foreseeable and within the Petitioner’s control.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 16.  Specifically, the Department, through Ms. Macionus demonstrated the following:
On March 14, 2008, Ms. Macionus inspected the Auburn Site to investigate a complaint
that the Department had received asserting that the Petitioner’s employees were moving and consolidating potentially hazardous and incompatible materials and mishandling those materials at the Site.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 6, ¶ 4.  Prior to inspecting the Auburn Site, Ms. Macionus reviewed Department records and confirmed that the Petitioner was not registered with the Department as a generator of hazardous waste and/or waste oil; that the Petitioner had never been issued a license or permit to transport EPA-regulated hazardous waste or waste oil; and that the Petitioner had never been issued a license to treat, store, or dispose of hazardous waste or to accumulate, dispose of or store solid waste at the Auburn Site.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, pp. 5-6, ¶ 3.  She also learned that the Petitioner neither held any air quality permits authorizing air pollution from stationary equipment, nor any solid waste or industrial waste water permits from the Department.  Id.

At the Auburn Site, Ms. Macionus observed an interior area with numerous containers, including approximately ten 55 gallon capacity drums, several of which were open, allowing their contents to evaporate into the air space of the building, and contained unknown liquid.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 6, ¶ 5; pp. 17-18, ¶ 27; p. 19, ¶ 29; Exhibits 13 and 14 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT.  Ms. Macionus also observed on a wooden pallet containing numerous small containers (ranging from one to five gallon capacity), some corrosives, labeled as ammonium hydroxide marked with the words “no good” and “old” dates on containers ranging from 1974 and 1994, some bearing warning labels that they were under pressure.  Id.; Exhibits 1 and 2 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT (photographs of waste materials in storage).  These materials were next to flammable materials with low flashpoints: at least 18 cans of ignitable lacquer thinner and primer, and adjacent to drummed additional ignitable substances including 3M Contact Adhesive and a Molding foam component.  Id.   
Immediately following her inspection of the Auburn Site, Ms. Macionus informed Worcester Fire and Auburn Fire Department officials of the potential fire hazards at the Auburn Site posed by the hazardous waste materials that she had observed at the Site.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, pp. 17-18, ¶ 27.  She also informed the Auburn Site’s property owner, First Highland Management and Development Corp., that it had to retain a licensed hazardous waste transporter to dispose of the hazardous wastes at the Auburn Site as soon as possible.  Id.   
Following her inspection of the Auburn Site, Ms. Macionus concluded that the Petitioner

had committed the following hazardous waste violations at the Auburn Site: (1) the Petitioner had stored incompatible materials directly adjacent to each other; (2) the Petitioner had failed to train its employees as to the hazards of working with such chemicals especially unknown wastes left in storage in an abandoned state for many years; (3) the Petitioner had failed to close the hazardous waste containers left within its control and management; and (4) the Petitioner had failed to determine whether all the wastes in storage at the Site were hazardous and posed a hazard (regarding the characteristics the waste could or did exhibit --corrosivity, toxicity, ignitability, and reactivity).  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, pp. 8-9, ¶ 7.  

On March 17, 2008, Ms. Macionus discussed her March 14, 2008 inspection of the Auburn Site with Jonathan Stott (“Mr. Stott), the property owner’s representative, and Mr. R. Bussiere.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 7, ¶ 6; p. 19, ¶ 28.  Ms. Macionus learned at that time that the property owner had retained the Petitioner to clean out the building at the Auburn Site, including consolidating hazardous wastes left behind by the building’s previous tenants.  Id.  She also learned that the Petitioner’s personnel working at the Auburn Site had not been trained to safely manage the leaking containers, were not properly trained in hazardous waste management, and lacked emergency, preparation, and response postings and plans, and allowed the presence of open, unlabeled containers.  Id.  Ms. Macionus also determined from her inspection that the Petitioner was acting as the generator or the agent of the generator of hazardous wastes at the Auburn Site within the meaning of the HWMA Regulations.  
One factor in Ms. Macionus’s determination was her review of electronic manifest records filed with the Department that revealed that the Petitioner had shipped waste oil, oily waste water, and waste gasoline in the past and that the Petitioner had used its telephone number as “Generator ID”/EPA Identification number on hazardous waste manifests for wastes that appeared to have been generated by the Petitioner’s clients.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 7, ¶ 6.  As examples, Ms. Macionus pointed to two job projects that the Petitioner had performed in 2007, which the Petitioner used its telephone number/ID as a temporary number as generator when a different generator name and address was submitted on the manifest.  Id.  Ms. Macionus testified that temporary numbers, usually used by companies awaiting assignment of a permanent EPA/DEP identification number are denoted by the prefix “MP.”  Id., pp. 7-8, ¶ 6.  She testified that at a minimum, the Petitioner’s listing of its telephone number as the generator identification meant that the Petitioner had assumed the responsibility of being the generator of the hazardous wastes.  Id., p. 8, ¶ 6.  At worst, according to Ms. Macionus, the Petitioner had assisted others in submitting fraudulent or incorrect data to the Department by misrepresenting the identity of the generator of the waste on uniform hazardous waste manfests.  Id.; Exhibits 3 through 6 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT (electronic manifest summary and specific manifests).
Mr. R. Bussiere testified that in his view Ms. Macionus erred in concluding that the Petitioner was the generator of hazardous wastes at the Auburn Site because her conclusion was purportedly based “on a clerical error in the hazardous waste manifests generator ID number.”  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶ 20.  He contended that the Petitioner was not the generator of hazardous wastes at the Auburn Site because the Petitioner purportedly “did not know what [it] was dealing with” at the Site, and, as such, “did not take control or assume ownership of the Hazardous Waste.”  Id., ¶ 21.
Mr. R. Bussiere’s testimony does not comport with the definition of “generator” of hazardous wastes under the HWMA Regulations discussed above which provides that a generator of hazardous wastes is “any person, by site, whose act or process produces hazardous wastes identified or listed in 310 CMR 30.100, or whose act first causes a hazardous waste to become subject to regulation.”  310 CMR 30.100 (definitions).  Moreover, Ms. Macionus refuted his testimony by submitting in evidence a hazardous waste manifest, dated October 3, 2008, that was signed by the Petitioner’s employee, Mr. Maracallo.  Ms. Macionus’s Rebuttal PFT, ¶ 4; Exhibit 2 to Ms. Macionus’s Rebuttal PFT.  This manifest certified the Petitioner as the “Generator” of 550 gallons of waste oil at that Auburn Site and listed the Auburn Site on the manifest as the “Generator's Site Address.”  Id.  
2.
The Department Properly Assessed Penalties Totaling $3,580.00
Against the Petitioner For Its Hazardous Waste Violations At 
the Auburn Site.    

The Department assessed a total penalty of $3,580.00 against the Petitioner for the following hazardous waste violations it committed at the Auburn Site:
(1)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.351(8)(b)4, as referred to by 310
CMR 30.253(6)(b) and 310CMR 30.688(4), by placing containers holding
incompatible hazardous waste materials (corrosive and/or reactive

chemicals next to ignitable materials) adjacent to one another on the same

wood pallet;

(2)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.351(9)(g), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(7)(b), by failing to train its employees in hazardous waste handling
practices and emergency procedures;

(3)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.685(1), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.351(8)(b) and 30.342(1)(c), by failing to close hazardous waste accumulation containers at the Auburn Site;
 and



(4)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.302, as referred to by 310 CMR
30.351(10)(b), by failing to determine whether the wastes generated, accumulated, and/or stored at the Auburn Site were hazardous wastes.
  

Through Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT, the Department established that it properly assessed 
each of the penalties set forth above in accordance with G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.  Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 213-223, 288-298, 321-332, 344-354.  The Petitioner offered no probative evidence in response to Mr. Levins’ testimony.  
C.
The Petitioner Committed Hazardous Waste Violations at the Worcester Site and the $25,084.00  Penalty that the Department Assessed For Those Violations is Proper.


1.
The Petitioner’s Hazardous Waste Violations at the Worcester Site
Through Ms. Macionus’s testimonial, documentary, and photographic evidence, the Department demonstrated that the Petitioner committed hazardous waste violations at the Worcester Site as alleged in ¶¶ 5, 9A-9N, 15, 15I-15V of the PAN, and that these violations were willful and not the result of error.  As discussed below, the evidence demonstrates that the Petitioner’s improper transporting or offering for transport waste oil or used fuel oil caused the violations, and, as a result, the violations were not accidental, but rather, were foreseeable and within the Petitioner’s control.  Myrtle 107, LLC, 2012 MA ENV LEXIS 62, at 16.  Specifically, the Department, through Ms. Macionus demonstrated the following:
 The Worcester Site is the Petitioner’s place of business.  On March 17, 2008, Ms. Macionus inspected the Worcester Site to investigate a complaint that the Department had received asserting that the Petitioner was improperly transporting or offering for transport waste oil.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 5, ¶¶ 2-3; p. 9, ¶ 8.  Prior to inspecting the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus reviewed Department records and confirmed that the Petitioner was not authorized under the HWMA Regulations to perform those activities.  Id., pp. 5-6, ¶ 3.  

Mr. R. Bussiere was present during Ms. Macionus’s inspection of the Worcester Site.  Id., p. 9, ¶ 8.  During the inspection, Mr. R. Bussiere confirmed that the Petitioner was neither a licensed transporter of hazardous wastes nor authorized to transport hazardous waste to the Worcester Site from the Petitioner’s work sites without the Department's authorization.  Id., p. 10, ¶ 9.  
At the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus  observed a minimum of six 55 gallon drums marked as “sediment,” “oily solids,”  and “pads & rags.”  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 10, ¶ 10; Exhibit 7 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT.  The drums were not properly labeled in accordance with the Department’s hazardous waste management requirements, the accumulation area was not marked as a hazardous waste (waste oil) accumulation area, and it lacked a sign posted on the wall identifying it as such.  Id.  No emergency postings were visible in the garage identifying responsible facility personnel to contact in the event of a spill, fire, or other emergency.  Id.  Ms. Macionus asked Mr. R. Bussiere to identify the origin of these particular containers.  Id.  In response, Mr. R. Bussiere stated that occasionally on a job site, the Petitioner would be delivered “bad” hydraulic oil for its excavator, and, as a result, the Petitioner had to drain out the “bad oil” while still at a job site.  Id.  He also stated that the Petitioner had received “bad oil” which caused a problem with the hydraulics in the excavator, causing it to leak oil onto the soil at the job site, and that the oily soil could not be left in place.  Id.  He stated that oily soil from job sites was excavated, placed into 55 gallon drums, and transported back to the Worcester Site prior to disposal.  Id.  

At the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus observed a second area of waste oil and waste oil debris/soil storage in the last garage bay.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 11, ¶ 11.  In this bay, a truck was parked within two inches of at least three 55 gallon metal drums described as full by the Petitioner’s employees.  Id.  The storage area was not safe and did not meet aisle spacing requirements as inspecting the area was very difficult due to the tight space, the presence of other materials in storage, and especially due to a truck parked directly in front of the drums.  Id.  Ms. Macionus determined that the waste containers were vulnerable to being punctured, knocked over, or otherwise compromised.  Id.  She also observed oil spillage on the concrete floor around the drum storage area.  Id.  She also observed a minimum of four metal storage containers.  Id.; Exhibits 8 and 9 to Ms. Macionus (photographs of drums).  The area was not marked as a hazardous waste (waste oil) accumulation area.  Id.  No emergency postings were visible in the garage identifying responsible facility personnel to contact in the event of a spill, fire, or other emergency.  Id.  The concrete floor was worn and did not appear to be an impervious surface.  Id.  There was also no secondary containment around the drums to safeguard them from compromise.  Id.    

Ms. Macionus learned during her inspection of the Worcester Site that the waste oil that the Petitioner drained from his vehicles at the Site was transported to or picked up by another business, Bussiere Demolition, an entity owned by Mr. R. Bussiere’s son, Mr. S. Bussiere.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 12, ¶ 12.  As Ms. Macionus testified, a facility that receives hazardous wastes (“receiving facility”) must meet the Department's requirements in 310 CMR 30.304 and 310 CMR 30.305 and be registered with and have filed a Class A Notification form with the Department for its Class A regulated activity to accept waste oil.  Id.  After her inspection of the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus reviewed Department records and learned that Bussiere Demolition was not registered with the Department, had not filed a Class A Notification form with the Department, and had not been licensed by the Department as a waste oil transporter, and, as such Bussiere Demolition was not authorized to receive waste oil to utilize it for its own purposes such as burning the waste oil for energy generation in a space heater.  Id.  

During her inspection of the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus observed a third area of drum accumulation outdoors in the Site’s yard.  Ms. Macionus’ D.PFT, p. 12, ¶ 13.  Specifically, she observed nine 55 gallon metal drums grouped together in the yard.  Id.  She also observed that two of the drums contained waste oil in the bottom in amounts that were able to be poured off from the container into a smaller container.  Id.   The drums were left outdoors and were capable of filling with rain water or being knocked over by heavy equipment and vehicles moving through the yard.  Id.  Two drums had cover lids resting on top of them but the drums were not tightly sealed with the lids and the lids did not fully cover the top of the drums.  Id.  In Ms. Macionus’s presence, Mr. R. Bussiere requested one of his employees to explain why the drums were stored in the yard in that manner.  Id.  The employee stated that Cyn Environmental (a licensed hazardous waste transporter) had been to the Worcester Site to pump waste oil from the drums for transport and disposal and had left the drums.  Id.  The employee also stated that one of the Petitioner’s employees had removed the containers outdoors to that location.  Id.  Mr. R. Bussiere directed the employee to move the drums indoors immediately.  Id.  Ms. Macionus determined that the drums contained waste oil in them, were not properly labeled, were not tightly closed, did not have an impervious surface underneath them in the yard (over bare ground), and did not have secondary containment in the event of spillage/drum integrity compromised if knocked over.  Id.; Exhibit 10 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT.

During the course of her inspection of the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus requested to review the Petitioner’s hazardous waste manifests documenting shipments of state-regulated waste oil or EPA-regulated hazardous waste from the Worcester Site for at least the preceding two years.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT, p. 13, ¶ 14.  In response, Mr. R. Bussiere produced one manifest documenting a March 2008 shipment of waste oil.  Id.  He stated that he did not have any documentation regarding the waste oil transfers that the Petitioner had made to the other business.  Id.  Ms. Macionus requested that Mr. R. Bussiere provide receipts or bills of lading for waste oil transfers.  Id.  Mr. R. Bussiere stated that Petitioner did not have any of those documents, and that none were prepared or exchanged in this business arrangement.  Id.  

At the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus informed Mr. R. Bussiere of the Registration requirement regarding selecting a generator status for both state-regulated waste oil and EPA-regulated waste streams and filing the appropriate forms with the Department.  Id.  She also discussed with him the requirements governing hazardous waste generation, storage, registration, management, transport, and disposal.  Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT., p. 13, ¶ 15; Exhibit 11 to Ms. Macionus’s D.PFT.  She also provided him with guidance on the regulations governing hazardous waste Registration materials and requested that the Petitioner register its waste oil and EPA- hazardous waste statuses with the Department as soon as possible and within the next business day.  Id.  
Following her inspection of the Worcester Site, Ms. Macionus reviewed the Department’s electronic manifest data of the Petitioner’s previous shipment of hazardous waste to ascertain the Petitioner’s hazardous waste generation rates over time.  Id.  During her review of that data, she learned that as recently as December 2007 the Petitioner had used the prefix “MP” and its telephone number as the “EPA Generator ID” on several manifests for sites that were not the Petitioner’s.  Id.  Site addresses and names of other companies were included in some cases for “generator name and site address,” but by using its telephone number in the generator ID column, the Petitioner assumed legal responsibility as the generator of hazardous wastes.  Id.  

At the Hearing, Mr. R. Bussiere disputed Ms. Macionus’s determination that the Petitioner was the generator of hazardous wastes at the Worcester Site because it had transferred waste oil to the Worcester Site or offered the oil for transport from the Site.  Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 37-40.  He “[took] issue with . . . [Ms. Macionus’s contention] that [the Petitioner] transferred waste oil to [his] son, [Mr. S. Bussiere].”  Id.  Both he and his son denied at the Hearing that the latter had received waste oil from the Petitioner.  Id.; Mr. S. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 1-4.  They contended that the Petitioner had only given Mr. S. Bussiere “fuel oil that was drained from one of [the Petitioner’s] machines” and which was purportedly diesel fuel.  Id.  I find, however, Ms. Macionus’s version of the events more credible given the requirements of the HWMA Regulations discussed above governing waste oil and used fuel oil, and the significant evidence of the Petitioner’s hazardous waste violations at the Worcester Site.

2.
The Department Properly Assessed Penalties Totaling $25,084.00
Against the Petitioner For Its Hazardous Waste Violations At 
the Worcester Site.    

The Department assessed a total penalty of $25,084.00 against the Petitioner for the following hazardous waste violations it committed at the Worcester Site:
(1)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.253(10)(a) and 310 CMR 30.061(1)
by failing to register, complete, and file an accurate registration, and to notify the Department in writing of Petitioner’s generation accumulation of waste oil/oily debris;



(2)
$14,950.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.253(1)(e) by failing to transfer
waste oil or used oil fuel off the site of generation to an authorized facility;
 

(3)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.341(2), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(6)(a) and 30.351(8)(a) by failing to properly mark and label containers accumulating waste oil and/or used oil fuel;
 

(4)
$1,000.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.685(1), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(6)(b), 310 CMR 30.351(8)(b), and 30.342(1)(c) by failing to store waste oil in closed containers;
 

(5)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.342(1)(e)2, as referred to by 310 CMR

30.253(6)(b) and 310 CMR 30.351(8)(b), by failing to have an outdoor containment system for hazardous wastes stored outdoors at the Worcester Site; 
 

(6)
$500.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.342(1)(e)1, as referred to by 310 CMR

30.253(6)(b) and 310 CMR 30.351(8)(b), by failing to have an impervious surface underneath hazardous waste accumulation containers at the Worcester Site;

(6)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.685(4), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(6)(b) and 310 CMR 30.351(8)(b), by failing to maintain adequate aisle spacing for container storage of hazardous wastes at the Worcester Site, such that each row of containers could be inspected; 
  



(7)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.341(5), as referred to by 310 CMR
253(6)(b) and 310 CMR 30.351(8)(a), by failing to clearly delineate at the Worcester Site the hazardous waste accumulation areas from the generation area;



(8)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.253(6)(a) by failing to post a sign with

the words “WASTE OIL” in capital letters at least one inch high at all areas at the Worcester Site where hazardous wastes had been accumulated;



 (9)
$377.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.311(1), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(9) and 310 CMR 30.253(1)(b), by failing to use hazardous waste manifests for waste oil transported off the site of generation in March and April 2008;
 


(10)
$377.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.331(1), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(9) and 310 CMR 30.351 (10)(f), by failing to keep the appropriate copies of each hazardous waste manifest for three years from the date the waste was accepted by the initial transporter of the waste; 



(11)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.351(9)(c)6, as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(7)((b), by failing to maintain and post an up-to-date, written list of emergency information near the telephone(s) at the site of generation of the hazardous wastes;



(12)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30,351(9)(g), as referred to by 310 CMR
30.253(7)(b), by failing to train its employees in waste oil handling practices and emergency procedures;
 and


(13)
$860.00 for violating 310 CMR 30.302, as referred to by 310 CMR
30.351(10)(b), by failing to determine if the wastes it generated, accumulated, or stored at the Worcester Site were hazardous wastes; 
  
Through Mr. Levins’ detailed PFT, the Department established that it properly assessed each of the penalties set forth above in accordance with G.L. c. 21A, § 16 and 310 CMR 5.25.  Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 169-212, 224-254, 255-287, 299-320, 333-343, 355-365.  The 
Petitioner offered no probative evidence in response to Mr. Levins’ testimony.  
CONCLUSION


Based on the foregoing, the Department properly issued the PAN against the Petitioner for multiple and serious asbestos and hazardous waste violations at four locales in the Commonwealth.  Accordingly, I recommend that the Department’s Commissioner issue a Final 
Decision affirming the PAN.

NOTICE-RECOMMENDED FINAL DECISION

This decision is a Recommended Final Decision of the Presiding Officer.  It has been transmitted to the Commissioner for his Final Decision in this matter.  This decision is therefore not a Final Decision subject to reconsideration under 310 CMR 1.01(14)(d), and may not be appealed to Superior Court pursuant to G.L. c. 30A.  The Commissioner's Final Decision is subject to rights of reconsideration and court appeal and will contain a notice to that effect.  

Because this matter has now been transmitted to the Commissioner, no party and no other person directly or indirectly involved in this administrative appeal shall neither (1) file a motion to renew or reargue this Recommended Final Decision or any part of it, nor (2) communicate with the Commissioner’s office regarding this decision unless the Commissioner, in his sole discretion, directs otherwise.

Date: __________




__________________________

Salvatore M. Giorlandino
Chief Presiding Officer 
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�  Under the Civil Administrative Penalties Act, G.L. c. 21A, § 16, and the Civil Administrative Penalty Regulations at 310 CMR 5.00, the Department has the burden of proof in an administrative appeal such as this case challenging its issuance of a civil administrative penalty.  See 310 CMR 5.36(3) (“the Department shall, by a preponderance of the evidence, prove the occurrence of the act(s) or omission(s)” alleged in the PAN); In the Matter of John & Nick’s Texaco, OADR Docket No. 2009-039, Recommended Final Decision (June 14, 2010), 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 154, at 3, adopted as Final Decision (June 22, 2010), 2010 MA ENV LEXIS 120.  





�  See Department’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Donald Heeley (“Mr. Heeley’s D.PFT”), ¶¶ 1-8, ¶¶ 13-40; Pre-filed Rebuttal Testimony of Donald Heeley (“Mr. Heeley’s Rebuttal PFT”).





�  See Department’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of James Jordan (“Mr. Jordan’s D.PFT”), pp. 1-7.





�  See Department’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Jennifer H. Macionus (“Ms. Macionus’ D.PFT”), pp. 1--31; Pre-filed Rebuttal Testimony of Jennifer H. Macionus (“Ms. Macionus’ Rebuttal PFT”).





�  See Department’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Robert D. Shultz (“Mr. Shultz’s D.PFT”), ¶¶ 1-16; Pre-filed Rebuttal Testimony of Robert D. Shultz (“Mr. Shultz’s Rebuttal PFT”).





�  See Department’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Gregory P. Levins (“Mr. Levins’ PFT”), ¶¶ 1-367; Pre-filed Rebuttal Testimony of Gregory P. Levins (“Mr. Levins’ Rebuttal PFT”).





�  See Petitioner’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Ronald Bussiere (“Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT”).





�  See Petitioner’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Steve Bussiere (“Mr. S. Bussiere’s D.PFT”).





�  See Petitioner’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of Amaury Jesus Maracallo (“Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT”).





�  See Petitioner’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of George Matsos (“Mr. Matsos D.PFT”).





�  See Petitioner’s Pre-filed Direct Testimony of John Reil (“Mr. Reil’s D.PFT”).





�  “[F]or the purpose[s] of 310 CMR 7.15, [“facility”] means any structure, installation, building, equipment, or ship.”  310 CMR 7.00 (Definitions).  





�  Under 310 CMR 7.00, “owner/operator” means:





[1] any person, [2] any department or instrumentality of the federal government, or [3] any public or private group which: a) has legal title, alone or with others, of a facility, b) has the care, charge, or control of a facility, or c) has control of a demolition/renovation operation, including but not limited to contractors and subcontractors.





310 CMR 7.00 (Definitions) (numerical references supplied).  “Person” is defined as “any individual, partnership, association, firm, syndicate, company, trust, corporation, department, authority, bureau, agency, political subdivision of the Commonwealth, law enforcement agency, fire fighting agency, or any other entity recognized by law as the subject of rights and duties.”  Id.   





�  It is well settled that the relevancy, admissibility, and weight of the evidence that the parties introduced in the Hearing were governed by G.L. c. 30A, § 11(2) and 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h)(1). Under G.L. c. 30A, § 11(2):


 


[u]nless otherwise provided by any law, agencies need not observe the rules of evidence observed by courts, but shall observe the rules of privilege recognized by law. Evidence may be admitted and given probative effect only if it is the kind of evidence on which reasonable persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs. . . .





Under 310 CMR 1.01(13)(h), "[t]he weight to be attached to any evidence in the record [rests] within the sound discretion of the Presiding Officer. . . ."


�  See Mr. R. Bussiere’s D.PFT, ¶¶ 24-36.





�  See Mr. Maracallo’s D.PFT, pp. 2-4 (¶¶ 3-14).  


� PAN, ¶¶ 7A, 15E; Mr. Heeley’s D. PFT, ¶¶ 34-40; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 15-25.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 7B, 15F; Mr. Heeley’s PFT, ¶¶ 36-40; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 103-113.     





�  PAN, ¶¶ 7C, 15G; Mr. Heeley’s PFT, ¶¶ 36-40; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 125-135.





�  PAN, ¶¶ 7D, 15H; Mr. Heeley’s PFT, ¶¶ 36-40; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 147-157.  





�  A Gaylord box is a type of corrugated pallet box.  See http://www.rmp.com/gaylord-container-company.





�  See Mr. Matsos D.PFT, at pp. 2-4 (¶¶ 1-13).





� See http://www.mass.gov/dep/air/laws/shingles.pdf.


� PAN, ¶¶ 13A, 15Z; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 26-36.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 13B, 15AA; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 37-47. 


   


� PAN, ¶¶ 13C, 15BB; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 48-58.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 13D, 15CC; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 81-91.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 13E, 15DD; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 92-102.


    


�  PAN, ¶¶ 13F, 15EE; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 114-124.    





�  PAN, ¶¶ 13G, 15FF; Mr. Shultz’s D. PFT, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 158-168.    





�   The statute’s definition of hazardous wastes, “however[,] [does] not . . . include solid or dissolved material in domestic sewage, or solid or dissolved materials in irrigation return flows or industrial discharges which are point sources subject to permits under section 402 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1967 as amended, or source, special nuclear, or byproduct material as defined by the Atomic Energy Acts of 1954.”  G.L. c. 21C, § 2.


� PAN, ¶¶ 5A, 15A; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 17-19, ¶ 27; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 288-298.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 5B, 15B; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 19, ¶ 28; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 321-332.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 5C, 15C; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 19, ¶ 29; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 344-354.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 5D, 15D; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 19-20, ¶ 30; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 213-223.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9A, 15I; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 20-21, ¶ 32; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 180-190.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9B, 15J; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 22, ¶ 33; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 169-179.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9C, 15K; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 22-23, ¶ 34; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 244-254.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9D, 15L; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 23-24, ¶ 13; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 333-343.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9E, 15M; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 24-25, ¶ 14; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 277-287.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9F, 15N; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 25, ¶ 15; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 266-276.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9G, 15O; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 25-26, ¶ 16; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 355-365.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9H, 15P; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 26, ¶ 17; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 255-265.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9I, 15Q; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 27, ¶ 40; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 191-201.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9J, 15R; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 27-28, ¶ 41; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 202-212.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9K, 15S; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 28, ¶ 42; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 235-243.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9L, 15T; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 28-29, ¶ 43; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 299-309.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9M, 15U; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, pp. 29-30, ¶ 44; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 310-320.    





� PAN, ¶¶ 9N, 15V; Ms. Macionus’s D. PFT, p. 30, ¶ 45; Mr. Levins’ PFT, ¶¶ 6-14, 224-234.    
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